MARK E. FERRARIO (1625) GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP 3773 Howard Hughes Parkway

Suite 400 North

Las Vegas, Nevada 89136

Tel: (702) 792-3773 Fax: (702) 792-9002

Email: FerrarioM@gtlaw.com Counsel for Appellant SHAC, LLC

WILLIAM H. BROWN (7623) LAMBROSE | BROWN PLLC 300 S. Fourth St., Ste. 700 Las Vegas, Nevada 89101

Tel: (702) 816-2200 Fax: (702) 816-2300

Email: WBrown@LambroseBrown.com

Counsel for Appellants except SHAC, LLC

Electronically Filed Oct 27 2016 04:44 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

K-KEL, INC., d/b/a Spearmint Rhino Gentlemen's Club, et al.,

Appellants,

VS.

NEVADA DEPARTMENT OF TAXATION, et al.,

Respondents.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to NRAP § 3A(b)(1), and Nev. Const. Art. 6 § 4. This is an appeal originally from a final judgment dated January 15, 2016 and entered on February 4, 2016, with the notice of appeal filed on February 26, 2016. Following an order by this Court, an amended order was filed on June 23, 2016 and entered on June 24, 2016, with an Amended Notice of Appeal filed June 24, 2016.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case is an administrative agency appeal involving a tax commission determination and thus under NRAP 17(a)(9) shall be heard and decided by this Court.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN RULING THAT CHAPTER 368A IS NOT UNCONSTITUTIONAL AND, THEREBY, IN DENYING THE PETITIONERS' PETITION FOR JUDICIAL REVIEW AND INCORPORATED CLAIMS FOR REFUND OF TAXES PAID.
- II. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN NOT REQUIRING THE NEVADA TAX COMISSION TO PERMIT PETITIONERS TO CONDUCT CERTAIN DEPOSITIONS BEFORE RULING.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioners operate commercial entertainment establishments in the City of Las Vegas, which present on their business premises live performance dance entertainment to the consenting adult public. Respondents Nevada Department of

Taxation (the "Department") and the Nevada Tax Commission (the "Commission") have taken the position that the Petitioners' establishments are subject to a Live Entertainment Tax enacted by the Nevada Legislature IN 2003 as NRS Chapter 368A (the "LET," or the "Tax," or "Chapter 368A"; the current version as of 2007¹, is found as Addendum A).

Petitioners assert that the "10%" portion of the LET² is unconstitutional under the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, as well as Art. I, §§ 9 and 10, of the Nevada Constitution. Petitioners have filed claims for the period January, February, March, and April of 2004, for amounts paid under the LET by them during that time. App.Apx., Vol.2, pp. 310-393; 406-448; and 455-497. The Department denied those claims for refund. App.Apx., Vol.2, pp. 394-405; 449-454; and App.Apx., Vol.3, pp. 498-503. Petitioners appealed to the Commission (App.Apx., Vol.3, pp. 504-582; and 596-642), which ultimately upheld the Department's denial of the refund requests (App.Apx., Vol.7, pp. 1642-1643).

_

¹ Additional amendments to the LET were enacted via SB 266 in 2015. The version *cited throughout this brief* and attached at Addendum A does not include these recent revisions.

² Petitioners' challenge is only to the 10% tax on admissions, food, refreshments, and merchandise imposed by NRS 368A.200(1)(A). This portion of the LET is not applicable to facilities with a maximum occupancy of 7,500 persons or more (NRS 368A.200(1)) or to licensed gaming establishments (NRS 368A.200(5)(e)). Those businesses are subject to a 5% tax, which Petitioners do not challenge here.

Petitioners have also filed and continue to file claims for refund for the periods of May of 2004 to present. The Department continues to deny those claims for refund and Petitioners then appeal to the Commission. The Commission is holding those appeals in abeyance pending the ultimate outcome of the present case.

When they were first before the Commission, the Petitioners did not undertake discovery because, among other things: 1) precedent established that administrative agencies were not the appropriate forum in which to litigate constitutional challenges, Thunder Basin Coal Co. v. Reich, 510 U.S. 200, 215, 114 S.Ct. 771, 780 (1994); 2) precedent at the time established that the Petitioners would be afforded de novo judicial review where discovery would be permitted (and, in fact, established that the filing of a limited petition for judicial review was procedurally improper and would be subject to dismissal), Saveway Super Serv. Stations, Inc. v. Cafferata, 104 Nev. 402, 405, 760 P.2d 127, 129 (1988); and 3) the judicial redress statute contained in Chapter 368A (that being NRS 368A.290) appeared to provide for the filing of an original action for refund following the denial by the Commission of appeals regarding administrative claims for refund, where de novo review would be provided and where discovery could be conducted.

On January 9, 2008, Petitioners filed a complaint for refund pursuant to NRS 368A.290(1)(b) and NRS 368A.300(3)(b), which was assigned Case No. A554970 in Division XI of the Eighth Judicial District Court for Clark County ("Case 2").

Previously in 2005, Petitioners and others had filed suit in federal court, after the Nevada Legislature enacted certain amendments to the LET expanding the scope of the Tax. That action was dismissed pursuant to a motion filed by the Respondents on the basis that, under the federal Tax Injunction Act (28 U.S.C. § 1341), a "plain, speedy, and efficient remedy" could be had in the courts of this state. Petitioners thereafter filed a complaint in the Clark County District Court seeking essentially the same relief, which was assigned Case No. A533273 ("Case 1"). Case 1 and Case 2 were coordinated and later partially consolidated in Department XI.

After substantial litigation, Respondents moved to dismiss Case 2 on the grounds that the matter should have been filed as a petition for judicial review pursuant to NRS Ch. 233B. Following the ruling of this Court in <u>Southern California Edison v. First Judicial District</u>, 127 Nev. 276, 255 P.3d 231 (2011), the District Court entered an order dismissing Case 2, and ordering the matter be re-filed as a petition for judicial review. In Case 1, the District Court found the LET to be facially constitutional.

Petitioners filed a petition for judicial review on September 23, 2011 (Case No. A-11-648894-J) seeking refunds of the taxes paid, and their Application for Leave to Present Additional Evidence to the Nevada Tax Commission (the "Application") was filed on September 28, 2011. App.Apx., Vol.1, pp. 140-169. The Application sought to permit the Petitioners to undertake discovery before the Commission and to

present such additional evidence thereto as the Petitioners deemed appropriate before further review was undertaken by the District Court. <u>Id</u>.

The Application was granted on January 24, 2012, remanding the matter to the Commission and instructing it to consider the additional evidence and either: "Amend the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law dated Oct. 12, 2007, Reverse the Decision, or Affirm the Decision." App.Apx., Vol.1, pp. 52-53, Order of 1/24/12.

Following the remand, Petitioners, pursuant to NAC 360.135, submitted a letter to the Commission to request the depositions of Dino Dicianno, Michelle Jacobs, and Tesa Wannamaker. App.Apx., Vol.15, pp. 3308-3312. Respondents opposed the request. App.Apx., Vol.15, pp. 3313-3318. The Commission denied the requested subpoenas not because the evidence would be immaterial, but instead because it concluded that Petitioners had waived their right to obtain subpoenas by not having requested them when the matter was originally before the Commission. App.Apx., Vol.17, pp. 3744-3749, Nevada Tax Commission Letter, 9/6/12.

The Commission also, pursuant to NRS 360.245 and NRS 233B.130 (1), remanded the matter to an administrative law judge ("ALJ") to review the entire record "and determine whether the findings of fact, conclusions of law, and final decision issued in 2007 should be amended, reversed, or affirmed." <u>Id.</u>, App.Apx., Vol.17, pp. 3744-3749.

The ALJ denied Petitioners' request for a hearing on the matter and for further discovery, and affirmed the Commission's October 12, 2007 decision. App.Apx., Vol.17, pp. 3750-3757, Hearing Officer's Order on Remand, 8/27/13.

On February 12, 2014, the Commission affirmed the ALJ's September 6, 2012, decision. App.Apx. Vol.18, pp. 3782-3857. Petitioners filed an additional Petition for Judicial Review with the District Court, which was assigned case number A-14-697515-J. The parties stipulated to and the District Court ordered the consolidation of the two Petitions for Review (App.Apx., Vol.1, pp. 1007-110, Stipulation and Order signed 3/24/2014), which were temporarily stayed pending Petitioners' appeal of the District Court's decision to dismiss the "as applied" challenges to the LET and its appeal of the District Court's entry of summary judgment in favor of the Respondents on the facial challenge. This Court issued its opinions on those appeals on September 18, 2014.

In the appeal of Case 2, this Court upheld the District Court's order that Petitioners were required to seek review of the Commission's decision by way of a petition for judicial review – the action below here. <u>Deja Vu Showgirls v. Nevada</u> <u>Dep't of Taxation ("Deja Vu 2")</u>, 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 72, 334 P.3d 387, 390 (2014).

In Case 1, this Court held that the District Court correctly dismissed Petitioners' "as applied" challenges, which were subject to administrative exhaustion. <u>Deja Vu</u> Showgirls v. Nevada Dep't of Taxation ("Deja Vu 1"), 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 73, 334

P.3d 392, 397 (2014). The Court also found that the text of Chapter 368A did not render the LET unconstitutional on its face. <u>Id</u>. at 401-02.

Following that, the District Court ruled, on the Petition for Judicial Review, that the LET was fully constitutional and that the Commission had not erred in denying Petitioners' the ability to take depositions. App.Apx., Vol.19, pp. 4021-4026, Amended Order, 06/22/16.

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Petitioners operate licensed establishments that present a variety of female performance dance entertainment; some of which is clothed and some which is "topless." This entertainment constitutes speech and expression, as well as a form of assembly, protected by the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, as well as by Art. I, §§ 9 and 10 of the Nevada Constitution.³

³ Exotic dancing, in the form of clothed, "topless," and even fully nude entertainment, falls within the scope of the liberties, including the right to free expressive association, afforded by the First Amendment. *See, e.g.*, Barnes v. Glen Theatre, Inc., 501 U.S. 560, 565, 111 S.Ct. 2456, 2460 (1991) (nude dancing receives protections under the Constitution); City of Erie v. Pap's A.M., 529 U.S. 277, 289, 120 S.Ct. 1382, 1391 (2000) (same); Schad ("Nor may an entertainment program be prohibited solely because it displays the nude human figure. '[N]udity alone' does not place otherwise protected material outside the mantle of the First Amendment. . . . Furthermore, . . . nude dancing is not without its First Amendment protections from official regulation"); and Deja Vu of Nashville, Inc. v. Metropolitan Government of Nashville and Davidson County, 274 F.3d 377, 396 (6th Cir. 2001), cert denied, 535 U.S. 1073 (2002), citing Roberts v. United States Jaycees, 468 U.S. 609, 622, 104 S.Ct. 3244,

On or about July 22, 2003, the legislature enacted Chapter 368A, which modified the previous "Casino Entertainment Tax" and imposed, for the first time and subject to numerous and various exceptions, a 10% excise tax on admission to nongaming facilities with an occupancy of less than 7,500 which provide defined "live entertainment." NRS 368A.200. The original 2003 version of the Tax is found as Addendum B.

As originally enacted, the tax imposed by Chapter 368A was not applicable, under the terms of NRS 368A.200 (5)(d), to live entertainment that was not provided at a licensed gaming establishment if the facility had a maximum occupancy of less than 300 persons. 368A.200(5)(d). However, on June 17, 2005, Chapter 368A was amended by Assembly Bill No. 554.

Among other things, Assembly Bill No. 554 (App.Apx., Vol.7, pp. 1481-1488) reduced the exception as contained in NRS 368A.200(5)(d) from a maximum seating capacity of 300 to 200 persons. App.Apx., Vol.7, p. 1485. As discussed below, the purpose of this amendment was to specifically extend the tax obligation as contained in Chapter 368A to a number of adult entertainment establishments that were not then

^{3252 (1984) (}court held that "the First Amendment protects the entertainers and audience members' right to free expressive association. They are certainly engaged in a 'collective effort on behalf of shared goals"). Because the Federal Constitution represents the "floor" level of protections that can be afforded under the State Constitution (see S.O.C., Inc. v. Mirage Casino-Hotel, 117 Nev. 403, 414, 23 P.3d 243, 250 (2001)), this federal case law is applicable to Petitioners' state constitutional challenges as well.

subject to the LET. In 2007, via Assembly Bill No. 487 (App.Apx., Vol.7, pp. 1489-1491), the Tax was also modified to exempt "certain minor league baseball events . . . "

While Petitioners contend the 10% tax imposed by Chapter 368A is both illegal and unconstitutional, and that even if it is not they are specifically exempted from paying the LET pursuant to the statutory exemptions as contained therein, they have nevertheless paid the LET mandated by Chapter 368A.

As reflected in Section VI (B) (3), *infra*, the legislative history and documents produced in discovery demonstrate that the purpose of enacting the LET was to *specifically tax adult nightclubs*. In addition, while purporting to apply to virtually all forms of live entertainment (see NRS 368A.090), because of the admittedly targeted focus on adult nightclubs, Chapter 368A is statutorily gerrymandered (some of which occurring after 2003) in such a fashion so that the non-gaming aspects of the Tax apply to adult nightclubs and little else. There are now no less than *Twenty-six* separate exemptions to the LET, which are discussed in Section VI (B) (2) below.

RELEVANT PROVISIONS OF CHAPTER 368A

Chapter 368A states, at NRS 368A.200 (1), that "[e]xcept as otherwise provided in this section, there is hereby imposed an excise tax on admission to any facility in this State where live entertainment is provided." If the live entertainment is provided at a facility with a maximum occupancy of less than 7,500, the rate of tax is 10% of

the admission charge to the facility plus 10% of any amounts paid for food, refreshments and merchandise purchased at the facility. If the live entertainment is provided at a facility with a maximum occupancy of at least 7,500, the rate of the tax is 5% of the admission charge to the facility. Id.

Chapter 368A defines an "[a]dmission charge" in NRS 368A.020 as:

[T]he total amount, expressed in terms of money, of consideration paid for the right or privilege to have access to a facility where live entertainment is provided. The term includes, without limitation, an entertainment fee, a cover charge, a table reservation fee, or a required minimum purchase of food, refreshments or merchandise.

The term "facility" is defined in NRS 368A.060 as follows:

- (a) Any area or premises where live entertainment is provided and for which consideration is collected for the right or privilege of entering that area or those premises if the live entertainment is provided at:
 - (1) An establishment that is not a licensed gaming establishment; or
 - (2) A licensed gaming establishment that is licensed for less than 51 slot machines, less than six games, or any combination of slot machines and games within those respective limits.
- (b) Any area or premises where live entertainment is provided if the live entertainment is provided at any other licensed gaming establishment.

"[L]ive entertainment" is generally defined in NRS 368A.090 as:

[A]ny activity provided for pleasure, enjoyment, recreation, relaxation, diversion or other similar purpose by a person or persons who are physically present when providing that activity to a patron or group of patrons who are physically present.

This definition includes, *inter alia*, "[d]ancing performed by one or more professional or amateur dancers or performers." NRS 368A.090 (2)(a)(2).

Pursuant to NRS 368A.200(5), however, the tax is not applicable to certain entertainment, one of which is "live entertainment that the State is prohibited from taxing under the Constitution, laws or treaties of the United States or the Nevada Constitution." NRS 368A.200(5)(a).

Other provisions of Chapter 368A, and the numerous exceptions/exemptions thereto, are discussed below.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Chapter 368A, both facially and as applied to Petitioners, is unconstitutional under the First Amendment to the United States and Nevada Constitutions because it:

1) is a direct tax on First Amendment protected activities, and in particular on "live entertainment"; 2) it targets a small group of taxpayers, namely those presenting exotic dance entertainment; and 3) it differentiates between the expression that is or is not subject to the tax based upon the content of the entertainment involved. Even if the Court were to determine that intermediate scrutiny applies, the LET cannot survive even that level of scrutiny.

In addition, the District Court erred by not ordering the Nevada Tax Commission to permit Petitioners to take depositions on matters relevant to their "as applied" constitutional challenges.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review of the District Court in regard to a petition for judicial review of an administrative decision is set forth in NRS 233B.135 (3). Petitioners contend that the LET violates the federal and state constitutional provisions identified above and/or that Petitioners are not subject to this Tax under NRS 368A.200 (5)(a), which exempts from taxation "[1]ive entertainment that this State is prohibited from taxing under the Constitution, laws or treaties of the United States" These issues of constitutionality and statutory interpretation are subject to *de novo* review. *See* Busefink v. State, 128 Nev. Adv. Op. 49, 286 P.3d 599, 602 (Nev. 2012).

Moreover, the Taxpayers' Bill of Rights states that each taxpayer has the right "[t]o have statutes imposing taxes and any regulations adopted pursuant thereto *construed in favor of the taxpayer* if those statutes or regulations are of doubtful validity or effect, unless there is a specific statutory provision that is applicable." NRS 360.291(1)(o) (emphasis added) (Addendum C). *See also* State v. Pioneer Citizens Bank of Nevada, 85 Nev. 395, 398, 456 P.2d 422, 423-424 (1969) ("[S]tatutes imposing taxes are to be construed in favor of the taxpayer and most strongly against the government . . .").

Further, the decision of whether to grant leave to present additional evidence is within the discretion of the district court. NRS 233B.131(2) ("if . . . it is show to the satisfaction of the court . . .") Thus, the district courts determination on the

discretionary discovery matter is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *See, e.g.*, Bahena v. Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co., 126 Nev. 243, 249, 235 P.3d 592, 596 (2010) (discovery sanctions are discretionary and reviewed for an abuse of discretion).

ARGUMENT

I. <u>CONSTITUTIONAL CONSTRAINTS OF TAXES THAT IMPACT UPON FIRST AMENDMENT RIGHTS</u>.

There are three ways a tax may violate the First Amendment. First, a direct tax specifically on First Amendment freedoms is unconstitutional.

Freedom of speech, freedom of the press, freedom of religion are available to all, not merely to those who can pay their own way It could hardly be denied that a tax laid specifically on the exercise of those freedoms would be unconstitutional.

Murdock v. Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, 319 U.S. 105, 108, 111, 63 S. Ct. 870, 872, 874 (1943) (emphasis added).

Second, a tax that targets a narrowly defined group of speakers is unconstitutional.

A tax is also suspect if it targets a small group of speakers.

* * *

The danger from a scheme that targets a small number of speakers is the danger of censorship; a tax on a small number of speakers runs the risk of affecting only a limited range of views. The risk is similar to that from a content-based regulation: It will distort the market for ideas.

Leathers v. Medlock, 499 U.S. 439, 447-48, 111 S. Ct. 1438, 1443-44 (1991).

Third, a *content-based tax* is unconstitutional. <u>Leathers</u>, 499 U.S. at 447, 111 S. Ct. at 1444 ("Finally, for reasons that are obvious, a tax will trigger heightened scrutiny under the First Amendment if it discriminates on the basis of the content of taxpayer speech"). *See also* <u>Seres v. Lerner</u>, 120 Nev. 928, 936, 102 P.3d 91, 96 (2004).

As discussed herein, the LET is unconstitutional for all three reasons.

II. RESPONDENTS HAVE THE BURDEN TO PROVE THE CONSTITUTIONALITY OF THE LET.

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