IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

K-KEL, INC., d/b/a Spearmint Rhino Gentlemen's Club, et al.

Appellants,

v.

State of Nevada, ex rel. Department of Taxation and Tax Commission,

Respondents.

Electronically Filed
Dec 28 2016 04:02 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

Clerk of Supreme Court Supreme Court Case No.: 69886

District Court Case No.: A-11-648894-J consolidated with A-14-697515-J

APPEAL FROM THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT

RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF

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

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

As a threshold matter, it is clear that the underlying substantive petition for judicial review (filed September 23, 2011) should be dismissed on jurisdictional grounds. Prior to the Déjà Vu I decision, the parties dutifully continued to comply with district court orders-including Petitioners "re-filing" of the matter as a petition for judicial review. The Déjà Vu I decision, however, affirmed the district court's lack of subject matter jurisdiction as to the de novo action.²⁵ In other words, the district court did not have jurisdiction on January 9, 2008—when Petitioners filed the de novo action, nor on October 27, 2011—when the district court ordered the de novo action dismissed, while also purporting to order the case "proceed as a petition for judicial review." Accordingly, when Petitioners filed their petition for judicial review on September 23, 2011—nearly four years after the Commission's October 12, 2007 decision—they had no excuse for failing to comply with the "mandatory and jurisdictional" time period under the APA.

If this Court does reach the merits, then it should conclude that Petitioners'

²⁴ Third Am. Case App. Stmt. at Ex. 3.

²⁵ *Déjà Vu I*, 130 Nev. at ___, 334 P.3d at 392.

arguments remain substantially the same as those advanced in *Déjà Vu II*. Furthermore, the relevant facts have not changed since the Court decided that case in 2014. Therefore, Petitioners cannot satisfy their additional burden of proving in this case that the tax has been applied or enforced in such a way as to abridge their rights under the First Amendment, and they have produced no evidence that the NLET was applied or enforced in a discriminatory fashion so as to silence or inhibit adult entertainment. The only new shine on the shoe is their assertion that *Reed v. Gilbert Arizona*, changes the applicable standard of review. However, unlike the ordinance at issue in *Reed* (which prohibited speech), this Court has already concluded that the NLET is content neutral.

Finally, Petitioners also challenge the 2012 Commission decision denying their request to reopen discovery. The request was denied because they made a strategic decision in 2007 to forego depositions despite the availability of the information that they now seek to obtain through depositions. At this point, it is difficult to imagine any set of facts that would bolster Petitioners' arguments in this case. Their attempt to reopen discovery is patently frivolous.

²⁶ Reed v. Town of Gilbert, Ariz., 135, S.Ct. 2218 (2105); see infra Section 2.B. Furthermore, only one of the more than 900 cites to Reed has addressed a tax matter. In that case, the court found that Reed did not apply because New York's cabaret tax and amusement tax are not imposed on a First Amendment activity. Similarly, in Déjà Vu II, this Court already has determined that the NLET is not a tax on First Amendment activity.

²⁷ Déjà Vu II, 130 Nev. at ___, 334 P.3d at 395.

V. ARGUMENT

1. THIS APPEAL SHOULD BE DISMISSED ON JURISDICTIONAL GROUNDS.

In *Déjà Vu I*, this Court ruled that "absent explicit legislative direction to the contrary, the APA's procedures, including the requirement to file a petition for judicial review, apply to all final Commission decisions, including those addressing refund requests under NLET." Generally, "[c]ourts have no inherent appellate jurisdiction over official acts of administrative agencies except where the legislature has made some statutory provision for judicial review." Accordingly, the provisions of the APA require "strict compliance" as a "precondition to jurisdiction by the court of judicial review." The "APA's procedures" specify that a petition for judicial review must "be filed within 30 days after service of the final decision of the agency." NRS 233B.130(2)(d). This Court has held that the "time period for filing a petition for judicial review of an administrative decision is mandatory and jurisdictional," and thus, it may not be excused. As a petition for judicial review of an administrative decision is mandatory and jurisdictional," and thus, it may not be excused.

Here, Petitioners' petition for judicial review of the Commission's October 12, 2007 decision was not filed until September 23, 2011—nearly four years after

²⁸ *Déjà Vu I*, 130 Nev. at ___, 334 P.3d at 390.

²⁹ Washoe Cnty. v. Otto, 128 Nev. 424, __, 282 P.3d 719, 724 (2012) (internal citation omitted).

 $^{^{30}}$ *Id*.

³¹ Kame v. Employment Security Dep't, 105 Nev. 22, 25, 769 P.2d 66, 68 (1989)(citation omitted).

the Commission's October 12, 2007 decision. That fails to comply with any applicable statutory time frame in NRS 233B.130 or NRS Chapter 368A. While the district court did proceed to docket the untimely petition for judicial review (as Case No.11-648894), it did not have jurisdiction to do so. "As the time limitation of NRS 233B.130(2)(c) [now codified at NRS 233B.130(2)(d)] is jurisdictional, a district court is divested of jurisdiction if the petition is not timely filed." This jurisdictional defect was, and is, not capable of being cured.

In continuing to proceed, moreover, Petitioners had no valid basis to rely on the district court's October 27, 2011 order. As an equitable matter, they were fully informed of their options when—in January 2008—they elected to file a de novo action instead of a petition for judicial review to challenge the Commission's October 12, 2007 decision.³⁴ As a legal matter, whether a court lacks subject matter jurisdiction "can be raised by the parties at any time, or sua sponte by a court of review, and cannot be conferred by the parties."³⁵ This Court specifically ruled, in *Déjà Vu I*, that the district court lacked subject matter jurisdiction as to the

³⁵ Swan v. Swan, 106 Nev. 464, 469, 796 P.2d 221, 224 (1990)(citation omitted).

³² Mikohn Gaming v. Espinosa, 122 Nev. 593, 598, 137 P.3d 1150, 1154 (2006).

³³ Otto, 128 Nev. at 282, P.3d at 725-727.

³⁴ Déjà Vu I, 130 Nev. at ___, 334 P.3d at 391 (finding that "the record shows that as early as their federal district court case in 2006, [Respondents] identified that a petition for judicial review was the appropriate remedy, citing to the APA.").

de novo action.³⁶ This ruling confirmed that the district court did not have jurisdiction on October 27, 2011—when it ordered the de novo action dismissed, while purporting to order the case "proceed as a petition for judicial review." Accordingly, the district court's October 27, 2011 order was "void," and not a valid basis for the late-filing of a petition for judicial review.

In summary, this appeal should be dismissed on jurisdictional grounds.

2. THE NLET IS NOT A TAX ON ANY FIRST AMENDMENT PROTECTED ACTIVITY

Should the Court entertain Petitioners' arguments on the merits, it bears repeating that their arguments are built on the false premise that the NLET is levied on First Amendment activity. This leads them to the false conclusion that the NLET is subject to strict scrutiny. Since the NLET is not a tax on First Amendment activity, it is subject to rational basis review. Under this standard, all of Petitioners' arguments fail. This Court's prior determination that the NLET is constitutional on its face is precedent.³⁸ Petitioners' argument, that the *Reed* decision changed the applicable standard of review, fails; indeed, they do not cite a single tax case negatively affected by *Reed*.

///

³⁸ *Déjà Vu II*, 130 Nev. , 334 P.3d at 402.

³⁶ *Déjà Vu I*, 130 Nev. at ___, 334 P.3d at 388-9.

³⁷ State Indus. Ins. System v. Sleeper, 100 Nev. 267, 269, 679 P.2d 1273, 1274 (1984).

A. The Nevada Constitution Provides that "Taxes May Be Levied Upon The Income Or Revenue Of Any Business In Whatever Form It May Be Conducted For Profit In The State." 39

There is a "strong presumption in favor of duly enacted tax schemes." The "presumption of constitutionality can be overcome only by the most explicit demonstration that a classification is a hostile and oppressive discrimination against a particular person and classes." Despite this case law to the contrary, Petitioners persist in their argument that the different tax rates for large and small facilities constitute impermissible gerrymandering. Gerrymandering is beside the point because tax classifications are valid as long as they bear a rational relationship to a legitimate governmental purpose and do not interfere with the exercise of free speech. 42

For more than 125 years, the Supreme Court has consistently upheld the rule that the government may:

impose different specific taxes upon different trades and professions, and may vary the rates of excise upon various products; it may tax real estate and personal property in a different manner; it may tax visible property

³⁹ Nev. Const. Art. 10 § 9.

Leathers v. Medlock, 499 U.S. 439, 451 (1991); see also Midcontinent Broad. Co. of Wis., Inc. v. Wis. Dep't. of Revenue, 297 N.W. 2d 191, 203 (Wis. 1980) ("[W]here a tax measure is involved, the presumption of constitutionality is strongest. The courts have given recognition to the essentiality of taxation in preserving an ordered society.").

⁴¹ Regan v. Taxation with Representation of Washington, 461 U.S. 540, 547 (1983), citing Madden v. Kentucky, 309 U.S. 83, 88 (1940).

⁴² Regan, 461 U.S. at 547.

only, and not tax securities for payment of money; it may allow deductions for indebtedness, or not allow them. 43

Additionally, a government may also, "if it chooses, exempt certain classes of property from any taxation at all." The Court reaffirmed this rule half a century later in *Madden v. Commonwealth of Kentucky*, when the Court ruled that the "presumption of constitutionality can be overcome only by the most explicit demonstration that a classification is a hostile and oppressive discrimination against particular persons and classes. In 1983 the Court again affirmed that a legislature has the broad discretion to adopt classifications in the field of taxation. 46

Along the same line, in *Leathers v. Medlock*, the U.S. Supreme Court had already reinforced earlier tax cases stating "discrimination among taxpayers, whether those taxpayers are speakers or non-speakers, is inherent and permissible in creating tax classifications that allow states the flexibility needed to fit tax programs to local needs."

Relying on the rule from *Leathers*, this Court found that heightened scrutiny does not apply to tax classifications unless the classification is hostile and

⁴³ Bell's Gap v. Commonwealth of Pa., 134 U.S. 232 (1890).

⁴⁴ *Id*.

⁴⁵ 60 S.Ct. 406, 407-408 (1940)(citation omitted).

⁴⁶ See Regan, 461 U.S. at 547.

⁴⁷ Déjà Vu 11, 130 Nev. __, 334 P.3d at 400 (citing Leathers, 499 U.S. at 451).

oppressive discrimination against particular persons and classes. Today, Leathers, Regan, and Madden, as well as the entire line of case law with respect to tax classifications, are still good law, and so is Déjà Vu II.

B. <u>Petitioners Cannot Meet Their Burden to Show the NLET has been Applied to Them in an Unconstitutional Manner.</u>

Rational basis is the correct standard of review of the NLET for both facial and as-applied challenges. A court must determine whether the NLET is rationally related to a legitimate governmental purpose.⁴⁹ Strict scrutiny review does not apply to a tax unless the tax is oppressive or is content based.⁵⁰

Petitioners argue that the *Reed*⁵¹ case changes the level of scrutiny. In response to this specious argument, the District Court concluded the facts of this case do not implicate *Reed*. AA 3969-3981. The court explained that *Reed* does not apply to a tax classification unless the classification amounts to hostile and oppressive discrimination against a particular person and class. AA 3969-3981.

Petitioners argue that *Reed* changed the analysis by applying strict scrutiny to a regulation that was viewpoint neutral but prohibited or regulated a specified

⁴⁸ Déjà Vu II, 130 Nev. __, 334 P.3d at 401 ("a tax that discriminates between speakers on a basis other than ideas is not by itself constitutionally suspect."), citing Leathers, 499 U.S. at 450.

⁴⁹ See Regan, 461 U.S. at 547 ("Generally, statutory classifications are valid if they bear a rational relation to a legitimate governmental purpose. . . . Legislatures have especially broad latitude in creating classifications and distinctions in tax statutes").

⁵⁰ Arkansas Writers' Project, Inc. v. Ragland, 481 U.S. 221(1987).

⁵¹ 135 S.Ct. at 2227.

topic.⁵² Because Petitioners have failed to show that the NLET targets their "speech" based on its communicative content, *Reed* cannot apply, and the standard of review is rational basis.⁵³ Petitioners' argument concerning intermediate scrutiny is likewise misplaced.⁵⁴

As this Court has already concluded, the NLET does not regulate speech and does not discriminate on the basis of content or a topic or the viewpoint

⁵² See Norton v. City of Springfield Ill., 806 F.3d 411, 412 (7th Cir, 2015) (noting that "a speech regulation targeted at specific subject matter is content based even if it does not discriminate among viewpoints within that subject matter"); In re Tam, 808 F.3d 1321, 1334 (D.C. Cir. 2015) ("content based restriction 'discriminates on the basis of content in the sense that it applies to particular speech because of the topic discussed.")(citation omitted).

⁵³ Reed, 135 S.Ct. at 2227.

⁵⁴ According to Petitioners, intermediate scrutiny applies when provisions of law impact protected expression. App. Br. at 25-26 (emphasis in original). Petitioners have produced no evidence to date that the NLET impacts protected expression. Furthermore, the cited cases addressed facts that are not analogous to those at issue here. The McCutcheon case concerns the right to engage in political speech, and whether restrictions on aggregate limits were poorly tailored to the government interest in preventing circumvention of the base limits of contributions. While McCutcheon addressed legislation that was specifically designed to curtail political speech, the NLET has no such purpose. McCutcheon v. FEC, 134 S.Ct. 1442, 1446-1447 (2014). The McCullen case concerns restrictions on public ways and sidewalks. Because sidewalks are a site for public discussion and debate, the Court used intermediate scrutiny to evaluate legislative restrictions on the public's use of a traditional public forum for engaging in free speech. The NLET does not impact a public forum. McCullen v. Coakley, 134 S.Ct. 2518 (2014). Neither of these cases concern taxation nor mention Reed. In fact, McCullen's reference to Ward actually bolsters the Department's position in its recognition that "a facially neutral law does not become content based simply because it may disproportionately affect speech on certain topics." contrary, "[a] regulation that serves purposes unrelated to the content of expression is deemed neutral, even if it has an incidental effect on some speakers or messages but not others." McCullen, 134 S.Ct at 2531.

discussed.⁵⁵ The NLET is simply a tax on a business transaction and not a tax on the entertainment.⁵⁶ The NLET does not contain guidelines for the messages conveyed in the live entertainment. The NLET does not impose subjective standards on any messages.⁵⁷ Most importantly, the NLET does not prohibit or regulate certain forms of entertainment, or regulate the time, place, or manner of any entertainment. This Court found that the NLET simply "imposes an excise tax on business transactions which neither inhibits nor burdens the expressive conduct occurring at live-entertainment facilities."⁵⁸ There are no objective indicators in the NLET statutory scheme showing a legislative intent to control content.

Of the hundreds of First Amendment challenges based on the *Reed* decision, only one concerns a tax.⁵⁹ In that case, *CMSG Restaurant Group LLC v. State*, which involved a cabaret tax and an amusement tax, the court found that rational

⁵⁵ *Déjà Vu II*, 130 Nev. __, 334 P.3d at 399.

⁵⁶ *Id*.

⁵⁷ *Id*.

⁵⁸ *Id*.

Petitioners concern regulating signs (*Central Radio, Inc v. City of Norfolk*, 227 F.3d 229 (4th Cir. 2015)), (*Wagner v. City of Garfield Heights*, 577 Fed. App. 488 (6th Cir. 2014)(unpublished)), panhandling (*Norton v. City of Springfield Ill.*, 806 F.3d 411 (7th Cir. 2015)), panhandling with signs (*Thayer v. City of Worcester*, 755 F.3d 60 (1st Cir. 2014)), and political robocalls (*Cahaly v. Larosa*, __F.3d__, 2015 WL 4646922 (4th Cir, Aug. 6, 2015)), they do not concern a legislatively enacted tax which does not regulate speech.

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